#### No. 75917

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MINERAL COUNTY, et al.,

Electronically Filed Nov 27 2018 02:51 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellants,

VS.

LYON COUNTY, et al.,

Respondents.

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT

Case No. 15-16342

#### APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Simeon Herskovits, Nevada Bar No. 11155 Advocates for Community and Environment P.O. Box 1075

El Prado, New Mexico 87529

Phone: (575) 758-7202

Email: simeon@communityandenvironment.net

Sean A. Rowe, Nevada Bar No. 10977 Mineral County District Attorney P.O. Box 1210

Hawthorne, Nevada 89415 Phone: (775) 945-3636

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The United States District Court for the District of Nevada ("district court" or "decree court") has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1345, and pursuant to its ongoing and continuing jurisdiction over the final decree entered in *U.S. v. Walker River Irrigation District, et al.*, in Equity No. C-125 (D. Nev. 1936) (ER 1319-1399).

On May 28, 2015, the district court entered an order dismissing Mineral County's public trust claim in that case. Order, *United States v. Walker River Irrigation District*, In Equity No. C-125, subproceeding C, Case No. 3:73-cv-128-RCJ (May 28, 2015) (ER 0111-30). Mineral County and the Walker Lake Working Group timely appealed the Order to the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit on June 29, 2015. Plaintiff-Intervenor Mineral County's and Defendant Walker Lake Working Group's Notice of Appeal and Representation Statement, *United States v. Walker River Irrigation District*, In Equity No. C-125, subproceeding C, Case No. 3:73-cv-128-RCJ (D. Nev. June 29, 2015) (ER 0053-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>"ER" refers to Mineral County and Walker Lake Working Group's "Excerpts of Record" which were submitted to the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit in case 15-16342, and which were transmitted to this Court by the 9th Circuit Court Clerk pursuant to the 9th Circuit's two certification orders. *See* Order Certifying a Question to the Supreme Court of Nevada, *Mono County v. Walker River Irrigation District*, 890 F.3d 1174 (9th Cir. May 22, 2018); Order and Amended Order Certifying Questions to the Supreme Court of Nevada, *Mineral County v. Walker River Irrigation District*, 900 F.3d 1027 (9th Cir. Aug. 20, 2018).

59). The United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit has jurisdiction over the appeal pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291.

This Court has jurisdiction over two questions of law certified to it by the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit in orders issued on May 22, 2018, and August 20, 2018, pursuant to NRAP 5 governing certified questions of law by federal courts. *See* Order Certifying a Question to the Supreme Court of Nevada, *Mono County v. Walker River Irrigation District*, 890 F.3d 1174 (9th Cir. May 22, 2018); Order and Amended Order Certifying Questions to the Supreme Court of Nevada, *Mineral County v. Walker River Irrigation District*, 900 F.3d 1027, 1034 (9th Cir. Aug. 20, 2018); *see also* NRAP 5. This Court issued two orders accepting the certified questions on July 18, 2018, and September 7, 2018. (Order Accepting Certified Question and Directing Briefing (July 18, 2018) (Doc. 18-27461)); (Order Accepting Second Certified Question and Modifying Briefing Schedule (Sept. 7, 2018) (Doc. 18-35022)).

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case is before this Court as the result of two Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals orders which certified two questions of Nevada state law to this Court for decision pursuant to NRAP 5. Thus, pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(6), the case is retained by this Court.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Questions of state law certified to this Court pursuant to NRAP 5 are reviewed *de novo*. *In re Fontainebleau Las Vegas Holdings*, 128 Nev. 556, 572, 289 P.3d 1199, 1209 (2012).

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The questions of Nevada state law certified by the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit for decision by this Court in its orders of May 22, 2018, and August 20, 2018, include: (1) "[d]oes the public trust doctrine apply to rights already adjudicated and settled under the doctrine of prior appropriation and, if so, to what extent?"; and (2) "[i]f the public trust doctrine applies and allows for reallocation of rights settled under the doctrine of prior appropriation, does the abrogation of such adjudicated or vested rights constitute a "taking" under the Nevada Constitution requiring payment of just compensation?" (Order Accepting Second Certified Question and Modifying Briefing Schedule (Sept. 7, 2018) (Doc. 18-35022)).

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On May 28, 2015, the district court in the Walker River Decree proceedings ("decree court") issued an order dismissing Mineral County's long-standing public trust claim which seeks minimum inflows for the preservation of Walker Lake. Order, United States v. Walker River Irrigation District, In Equity No. C-125, subproceeding C, Case No. 3:73-cv-128-RCJ (D. Nev. May 28, 2015) (ER 0111-30). Mineral County and the Walker Lake Working Group appealed that order to the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit to correct fundamental errors of law contained in the order. Plaintiff-Intervenor Mineral County's and Defendant Walker Lake Working Group's Notice of Appeal and Representation Statement, United States v. Walker River Irrigation District, In Equity No. C-125, subproceeding C, Case No. 3:73-cv-128 (D. Nev. June 29, 2015) (ER 0053-59). Following briefing and oral argument, the Ninth Circuit certified the above two questions of Nevada state law to this Court for decision.

Mineral County's public trust claim, which was dismissed by the May 28, 2015, decree court order, is part of litigation over water rights on the Walker River system that commenced in 1924, when upstream users prevented water from reaching the Walker River Paiute Reservation. This conduct prompted the United States to sue to determine a water right for the reservation and the relative rights to water of parties in Nevada and California. On April 14, 1936, the United States

District Court for the District of Nevada issued Decree C-125 ("Walker River Decree" or "Decree"). See United States v. Walker River Irrigation Dist., 11 F. Supp. 158 (D. Nev. 1935); United States v. Walker River Irrigation Dist., 14 F. Supp. 10 (D. Nev. 1936). The Decree was amended on April 24, 1940, to conform with the court's decision in *United States v. Walker River Irrigation Dist.*, 104 F.2d. 334 (9th Cir. 1939). The district court retained jurisdiction "for the purpose of changing the duty of water or for correcting or modifying this decree; also for regulatory purposes. . . . " Walker River Decree, at ¶XIV (ER 1392-93). Over the years, the district court has exercised ongoing authority over and supervision of these proceedings, including approving rules to implement the Decree, addressing requests to amend the Decree, and appointing Water Masters and the United States Board of Water Commissioners. In addition, it has designated three subproceedings, including C-125-C, Mineral County's public trust claim.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Subproceeding C-125-A, 3:73-cv-0126, involved a 1991 petition for declaratory and injunctive relief filed by WRID challenging restrictions placed on WRID's water licenses by the California State Water Resources Control Board. That subproceeding was dismissed by the district court after stipulation by the parties on June 3, 1996. Final Order Pursuant to Stipulation, *United States v. Walker River Irrigation District*, 3:73-cv-0126 (D. Nev. June 3, 1996). Subproceeding C-125-B, 3:73-cv-0127, is designated as the Walker River Paiute Tribe and United States' claims for additional water rights for the Walker River Paiute Tribe's reservation as well as additional federal claims for various federal interests in the Walker River Basin. That subproceeding was dismissed by the district court on the same day that Mineral County's public trust doctrine claim in subproceeding C was dismissed. Order, *United States v. Walker River Irrigation District*, 3:73-cv-0127

Mineral County intervened in the Walker Decree proceedings in 1994 to enforce the State of Nevada's and the decree court's public trust doctrine obligation to maintain minimum inflows from the Walker River system into Walker Lake in order to sustain Walker Lake's environmental, wildlife, recreational and aesthetic values.<sup>3</sup> Mineral County is the political subdivision that completely contains Walker Lake, and the health of Walker Lake directly and dramatically affects the quality of life, general welfare, and the economic, aesthetic, and recreational wellbeing of the County itself and of its residents. The Walker Lake Working Group ("Working Group") is a 501(c)(3) non-profit citizen's organization formed to advocate for and educate the public about the need to restore and protect Walker Lake's ecological health and aesthetic and recreational values. The Working Group is a defendant party to the proceedings below as the owner of Water Right Claim 149, which is listed on page 43 of the Walker River Decree, at ¶ II (ER 1361) (Spragg-Woodcock Ditch Company); see also Application 69762,

<sup>(</sup>D. Nev. May 28, 2015), which decision was overturned by the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit on May 22, 2018. *United States v. Walker River Irrigation District*, 890 F.3d 1161 (9th Cir. 2018). Consequently, subproceeding B is again pending in the decree court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mineral County's motion for intervention was granted by the district court in 2013. Minutes of Proceedings, *United States v. Walker River Irrigation District*, In Equity No. C-125, subproceeding C, Case No. 3:73-cv-128 (Dist. Nev. Sept. 23, 2013) (ER 0743).

http://water.nv.gov/data/permit/permit.cfm?page=1&app=69762. The Working Group always has supported efforts to transfer water rights for use in Walker Lake in order to increase flows of water from the Walker River system into Walker Lake and advance the Working Group's conservation goals for the lake, and has supported the enforcement of the public trust doctrine for the same purpose. The Working Group was a mediating party during the mediation process in the decree court. Order Governing Mediation Process, *United States v. Walker River* Irrigation District, In Equity No. C-125, subproceeding C, Case No. 3:73-cv-128 (Dist. Nev. May 27, 2003) (ER 1029-0132). The Working Group also was the copetitioner with Mineral County in the Petition for Writ of Mandamus and Prohibition before this Court for enforcement of the state's public trust duty to ensure minimum flows to Walker Lake. This petition resulted in this Court's opinion Mineral County v. State, 117 Nev. 235, 20 P.3d 800 (Nev. 2001), which was heavily relied on by this Court in its 2011 Lawrence v. Clark County decision in which the Court formally recognized the existence of the public trust doctrine in Nevada. 127 Nev. 390, 254 P.3d 606 (Nev. 2011).

Five issues were before the 9th Circuit Court of Appeals in the appeal of the decree court's May 28, 2015, order, filed by Mineral County and the Walker Lake Working Group, namely: (1) whether the district court erred in dismissing the public trust claim on the ground that Mineral County lacks standing to bring such

claims; (2) whether the district court erred in finding that the public trust doctrine does not apply to Walker Lake and the Walker River system; (3) whether the district court erred in dismissing the public trust claim on the ground that it cannot be applied to existing water rights without constituting an unconstitutional takings; (4) whether the district court erred in dismissing the public trust claim on the ground that enforcement of the public trust doctrine is a purely political, nonjusticiable question; and (5) whether the district court erred in holding that Walker Lake is not within the Walker River Basin and dismissing the public trust claim on the ground that decreed water rights cannot be transferred outside the Basin. In an order issued on May 22, 2018, the 9th Circuit reversed the district court's holding that Mineral County did not have standing to bring its public trust claim in the Walker River proceedings. Memorandum, Mono County v. Walker River Irrigation District, 735 Fed. Appx. 271, No. 15-16342, at 3-6 (9th Cir. May 22, 2018). Further, the 9th Circuit confirmed that Walker Lake is within the Walker River Basin and as such, Mineral County's claim should not have been dismissed on the ground that water cannot be transferred outside the basin pursuant to the Walker River Decree. *Id.* at 7.

Concurrently with the order reversing the district court's holding on the standing issue, the 9th Circuit issued a second order certifying the following question of Nevada state law to this Court: "[d]oes the public trust doctrine apply

to rights already adjudicated and settled under the doctrine of prior appropriation and, if so, to what extent?" Order Certifying a Question to the Supreme Court of Nevada, Mono County v. Walker River Irrigation District, 890 F.3d 1174 (9th Cir. May 22, 2018). On July 18, 2018, this Court issued an Order Accepting Certified Ouestion and Directing Briefing accepting the certified question. (Doc. 18-27461). On August 20, 2018, the 9th Circuit issued an amended certification order which certified the following additional question to this Court for decision: "[i]f the public trust doctrine applies and allows for reallocation of rights settled under the doctrine of prior appropriation, does the abrogation of such adjudicated or vested rights constitute a 'taking' under the Nevada Constitution requiring payment of just compensation?" Order and Amended Order Certifying Questions to the Supreme Court of Nevada, Mineral County v. Walker River Irrigation District, 900 F.3d 1027, 1034 (9th Cir. Aug. 20, 2018). On September 7, 2018, this Court issued an Order Accepting Second Certified Question and Modifying Briefing Schedule. (Doc. 18-35022).

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

#### I. The Decline of Walker Lake

Walker Lake is a rare desert terminus lake located in Mineral County,
Nevada, that is one of Nevada's and the western United States' precious natural
public water resources. Its primary source of water is inflow from the Walker

River. Dr. Saxon E. Sharpe, Dr. Mary E. Cablk, & Dr. James M. Thomas, Desert Research Institute, *The Walker Basin, Nevada and California: Physical Environment, Hydrology, and Biology, Publication No. 41231*, at 13-14 (May 2008), available at

https://www.dri.edu/images/publications/2007 sharpes cablkm etal wbncpehb.pd f. The only additional inflow into Walker Lake consists of relatively minor amounts of local groundwater, local surface water runoff, and precipitation on the Lake surface. Walker Lake has no outlet. Historically, the lake has supported a balance of algae, zooplankton, small crustaceans, insects, and four native fish species: the tui chub, Lahontan cutthroat trout, speckled dace, and Tahoe sucker. Sharpe, et al., *supra*, at 36. The Lahontan cutthroat trout is listed as threatened under the federal Endangered Species Act. 40 Fed. Reg. 29,864 (1975). The tui chub is identified as a "subspecies of concern" by the American Fisheries Society. Walker Lake also has provided important, scarce habitat for a variety of migratory birds, including American white pelicans, common loons, snowy plovers, longbilled curlews, double crested cormorants, gulls, herons, terns, grebes, avocets, and many others. See Sharpe, et al., supra, at 27, 32, & 39.

As upstream appropriations of water from the Walker River and its tributaries increased over the 20th Century, the natural flow of water into Walker



Lake was effectively cut off. The figure to the left is a map depicting historical lake levels as well as lake level goals and is available on the Walker Basin

Conservancy's website,

https://www.walkerbasin.org/history-of-walker-lake/. In 1882, the level of Walker

Lake was 4,082 feet above sea level. *See*U.S. Geological Survey, Scientific

Investigations Report No. 2007-5012

("USGS SIR 2007-5012") at 1 (available at

https://pubs.usgs.gov/sir/2007/5012/pdf/sir20075012.pdf). As of November 1, 2018, the Lake's elevation had receded to approximately 3,917 feet above msl, a decline of 165 feet in elevation. USGS Station 10288500, Walker Lake near Hawthorne, NV,

http://waterdata.usgs.gov/nv/nwis/uv/?site\_no=10288500&agency\_cd=USGS&am

p. This drop in elevation resulted in a decrease in Lake volume from

approximately 9.0 million acre feet to 1.224 million acre feet. *See id.*; *see also* USGS SIR 2007-5012, App. A.

As water volume decreased, salinity and total dissolved solids in the Lake increased. In 1882, the salinity of Walker Lake as measured by total dissolved solids (TDS) was 2,500 milligrams per liter. USGS Scientific Investigations Report 2007-5012 at 1. By 2007, the salinity of Walker Lake had increased to 16,000 milligrams per liter TDS, USGS Scientific Investigations Report 2007-5012 at 1, and as of August 2018, the salinity had increased to 21,100 milligrams per liter TDS.<sup>4</sup> This impact to water quality has severely degraded the entire ecosystem of Walker Lake, resulting in a devastating loss of biodiversity. What had been a healthy Lahontan cutthroat trout fishery, that was maintained by stocking after dams on the River prevented natural spawning, has been eliminated for the time being by the diminished inflows to Walker Lake and resulting degraded water quality in the Lake. Thus, the tragic effect of upstream overappropriation has been to strangle the Lake, devastate its once-thriving fisheries, eliminate the oncespectacular flocks of migratory birds that depended on the Lake, and, perhaps most importantly, drive away the many Nevadans and other Americans who used Walker Lake for recreational enjoyment and economically productive activities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Data available at

 $https://nwis.waterdata.usgs.gov/usa/nwis/qwdata/?site\_no=384200118431901.$ 

The severity and continued worsening of the damage to Walker Lake due the inadequacy of inflows from the Walker River has caused the near total loss of the Lake's environmental, economic, recreational, and aesthetic values to the public at large, Nevadans in particular, and Mineral County residents most egregiously.

Walker Lake has long supported the economy of Mineral County as a fishery and recreation area. Maintenance of a healthy fishery and recreation area at Walker Lake is critical to Mineral County's tax base and economy.

#### **II.** Walker River Decree Administration

Water rights on the Walker River system are administered under the continuing exclusive jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the District of Nevada pursuant to the Walker River Decree entered by that Court in 1936 and modified in 1940 (the "Walker River Decree"). The Walker River Decree fails to make any provision for inflows to Walker Lake. Mineral County and Walker Lake Working Group maintain that this omission constitutes a failure to fulfill the obligation under the public trust doctrine to provide for Walker Lake's continued health and the maintenance of Walker Lake's important environmental, economic, recreational, and aesthetic values for the benefit of current and future generations. Rather than managing the waters of the Walker River system in trust for the public, the State of Nevada and the decree court have managed the Walker River system for the exclusive benefit of private appropriators, and in a manner that has caused

and continues to cause the substantial impairment of Walker Lake. The result of this imbalanced management has been a devastating reduction of average annual inflows from the Walker River system to Walker Lake described above, which for some time now have been grossly insufficient to sustain the Lake's continued ecological health and or its important environmental, economic, recreational, and aesthetic values and uses. *See* Sharpe, et al., *supra*, at 13-14.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This case arose because of the failure on the part of the state to acknowledge and enforce the public trust with regard to Walker Lake which, as described above, is a rare and precious public trust water resource of the State of Nevada. As a consequence of the historic failure to fulfill the State's fiduciary obligation to protect Walker Lake under the doctrine, Walker Lake has been progressively and severely degraded to the point where a number of the Lake's core public trust uses and values have been lost for the time being. Only by recognizing and enforcing the trust duty to Walker Lake under the doctrine can Walker Lake's public trust uses and values be restored and protected for current and future generations of Nevadans, as the public trust doctrine requires and always has required under

Given this backdrop, this Court should answer the Ninth Circuit's first certified question in the affirmative and recognize that the public trust doctrine

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