IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 75917

Electronically Filed Apr 12 2019 01:09 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

MINERAL COUNTY; AND WALKER LAKE WORKING GROUP,

Appellants,

VS.

LYON COUNTY; CENTENNIAL LIVESTOCK; BRIDGEPORT RANCHERS; SCHROEDER GROUP; WALKER RIVER IRRIGATION DISTRICT; STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF WILDLIFE; AND COUNTY OF MONO, CALIFORNIA,

Respondents.

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE U.S. COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT

ANSWERING BRIEF OF RESPONDENT WALKER RIVER IRRIGATION DISTRICT

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

Under this analysis, whether Nevada owns the submerged land beneath Walker Lake should not be determinative of the application of the Nevada public trust doctrine to the right to use water. However, if it is determinative, that ownership here is uncertain and cannot be decided in the pending litigation or perhaps any other litigation. The United States has the power to reserve submerged lands under federal control for an appropriate public purpose, thereby defeating a future state's equal footing title. *United States v. Alaska*, 521 U.S. 1,

33 (1997). Establishment of an Indian reservation is a public purpose. *See, United States v. Montana*, 450 U.S. 544, 556 (1981); *United States v. Alaska*, 521 U.S. at 38-39. The purpose of the reservation is a critical factor in determining federal intent to defeat equal footing title. *United States v. Alaska*, 521 U.S. at 39. Federal intent to defeat such title is found where fishing is necessary for Indians' subsistence. *Id.* at 39. *See also, Idaho v. United States*, 533 U.S. 262, 274 (2001) (a right to control the lake bed and adjacent waters was traditionally important to the tribe which continued to depend on fishing).

From 1859, five years before Nevada was admitted to the Union, to 1906, when it was ceded to the United States, Walker Lake was part of the Walker River Indian Reservation. *See, Northern Paiute Nation v. United States*, 8 Cl. Ct. 470, 472-475 (1985). The Pyramid Lake and Walker River Indian Reservations have parallel histories. Both were set aside and confirmed by the same executive actions for essentially the same reasons. Both Reservations "embraced but a small portion of land suited for agricultural purposes, yet it [was] believed that there [would] be a sufficiency for the sustenance of the . . . tribes of Indians, in connection with the fish they may obtain from Pyramid and Walker Lakes" *United States v. Walker River Irrig. Dist.*, 104 F.2d 334, 338-39 (9th Cir. 1939).

Whether the details of the reservation of Walker Lake and its ultimate

cessation back to the United States will defeat Nevada's Equal Footing claim to it is not before the Court, and cannot be decided by it. Not only is it clear that there is a substantial question as to that title, it is questionable as to whether that issue can ever be conclusively resolved. The Quiet Title Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1346(f) and 2409a, is the exclusive means by which the United States' title to real property may be challenged. *Block v. North Dakota*, 461 U.S. 273, 286 (1983). Where the claim of the United States is based upon the trust or restricted status of Indian land, the Quiet Title Act renders it immune from suit. 11 *Alaska v. Babbit*, 182 F.3d 672, 675 (9th Cir. 1999).

B. Nevada's Water Law.

Nevada has not granted any rights to Walker Lake or the lands presently or formerly submerged by it. It has granted rights to the use of water. The analysis here should be of the Legislature's grant of that right to use water, and whether that grant meets the requirements of *Lawrence*.

Nevada has no constitutional provision addressing the use of water. Until the beginning of the last century, the right to use water was controlled by the

1993 Stats. of Nev. at 2046-2047.

It is worth noting that in 1993, the Nevada legislature enacted Chapter 496 of the Laws of Nevada permanently relinquishing "any right, title or other interest the state may have in the bed and banks of the portion of the Truckee River . . . and Pyramid Lake within the boundaries of the Pyramid Lake Indian Reservation"

common law as established by this Court. *See, Walsh v. Wallace*, 67 P. 914 (Nev. 1902); *Gotelli v. Cardelli*, 69 P. 8 (Nev. 1902). In 1913, the Nevada Legislature repealed all prior acts concerning water, and enacted a comprehensive water law. The Water Law of 1913 included some 90 sections, several of which are particularly relevant here.¹²

Section 1 declared that the "water supply within the boundaries of the state, whether above or beneath the ground belong to the public." NRS § 533.025. Section 2 provided that "subject to existing rights, all such water may be appropriated for beneficial use as provided in this act and **not otherwise**." NRS § 533.030(1). [Emphasis added]. Section 3 made "beneficial use" the basis, the measure and the limit of the right. NRS § 533.035. Section 5 provided that "when the necessity for the use of water does not exist, the right to divert it ceases." NRS § 533.045. Section 6 declared "beneficial use" as a "public use." NRS § 533.050. Section 8 provided for the permanent loss of the right to use water through nonuse. NRS § 533.060. Section 81 prohibited the waste of water. NRS § 533.460. Section 59 provided that **new** appropriations and changes to existing appropriations could not be made without first obtaining a permit from the Nevada State Engineer. NRS § 533.325. [Emphasis added]. Section 63 of the law

¹² The Addendum to this Brief includes the entire 1913 Water Law.

provided, among other things that it was the duty of the State Engineer to refuse to issue a permit where the use of the water "threatens to prove detrimental to the public interests." NRS § 533.370(2). Lastly, Section 84 of the act provided that "nothing in this act contained shall impair the vested right of any person to the use of water, nor shall the right of any person to take and use water be impaired or affected by any of the provisions of this act where appropriations have been initiated in accordance with law prior to the approval of this act. NRS § 533.085.

Those provisions are in stark contrast to the grant of the Illinois legislature in *Illinois Central* where public lands needed for a harbor and navigation were granted absolutely and permanently with no obligation to use them for that or any other purpose. Here, only the right to use water was granted, and only for a recognized beneficial use. If not needed for that use, it cannot be diverted, and if not used at all for a significant period of time, the right to use may be lost and become available for appropriation by others.

Although it has been amended many times since 1913, the basic structure, policy and procedures adopted in Nevada's comprehensive water law in 1913 remain in place today. Many of those amendments relate to the right to use water to benefit and protect natural resource values. In 1969, the Legislature amended NRS § 533.030 to expressly state that use of water for "any recreational purpose,"

which includes wildlife use, is a beneficial use. 1969 Nev. Stat. 141; NRS § 533.030(2). Pursuant to that statute the State Engineer has authorized the appropriation of water for wildlife at Walker Lake, Pyramid Lake and Blue Lake. This Court has confirmed the validity of such *in situ* appropriations for public recreational purposes, including for wildlife. *See, State v. State Engineer*, 766 P.2d 263 (1988).

Some of the amendments relate to protection of the finality of those rights and to preserving their availability for use as areas of Nevada transition from agricultural to urban uses. For example, in 1921, the Legislature amended the 1913 Act to provide that court decrees entered in adjudications would be "final and conclusive upon all persons and rights lawfully embraced" therein and could be modified only for increasing or decreasing the duty of water within three years of the entry thereof. NRS § 533.210. In 1999, recognizing the importance of existing agricultural water rights to the continued development of Nevada's growing metropolitan areas, the Legislature repealed a portion of NRS § 533.060 which allowed for loss of a surface water right by forfeiture. In addition, it provided that a surface water right appurtenant to land formerly used for agriculture could not be lost by abandonment if the water right is "appurtenant to land that has been converted to urban use; or has been dedicated to or acquired by a water purveyor,

public utility or public body for municipal use." NRS 533.060(3). Those are strong legislative statements that the public interest requires that existing agricultural rights to use water remain available as a part of the future municipal supply.

C. Nevada's Water Law Meets the *Lawrence* Test.

The legislative dispensation of the right to use water meets the three prong test set forth in *Lawrence* for reviewing legislative dispensations of public trust property: "(1) whether the dispensation was made for a public purpose, (2) whether the state received fair consideration in exchange for the dispensation, and (3) whether the dispensation satisfies the state's special obligation to maintain the trust for the use and enjoyment of present and future generations." *Lawrence*, 254 P.3d at 616. *Lawrence* also ruled that when the legislature has found that a given dispensation is in the public's interest, the legislative determination will be afforded deference. *Id.* at 617. Nevada's comprehensive water law and its dispensation of the right to use water satisfies the *Lawrence* test, and thus does not violate the public trust doctrine.

1. The Public Purposes.

The legislative dispensation of the right to use water was made for a public purpose. It is apparent from reading Nevada's 1913 Water Law and from the

almost contemporaneous decisions of this Court interpreting and applying it, that the Nevada Legislature had several public purposes for enacting it.

First, the Legislature brought the use and distribution of water into the control of the state, and in doing so, encouraged the use of such water for the economic benefit of the state. *Ormsby County v. Kearney*, 142 P. 803, 805 (Nev. 1914). That purpose is not served if fully perfected water rights may be involuntarily reallocated. Second, it brought order to a process which was uncertain and indefinite and which frequently involved long and expensive litigation. *Vineyard Land & Stock Co. v. Dist. Ct.*, 171 P. 166, 168 (Nev. 1918). Those purposes are turned upside down by a policy which allows for the involuntary reallocation of existing water rights. Third, when considering new appropriations and changes to existing and future rights, it directed that the State Engineer consider the public interest.

In 1913, when the Legislature required that new appropriations and changes to new and existing appropriations be measured against the public interest, it was aware that in all parts of Nevada there were existing rights to use water established under prior law. It might have chosen to subject those existing rights to the public interest test. It did not do so. Instead, it stated that such rights would not be "impaired or affected by the provisions" of that act. NRS § 533.085(1). In effect,

the Legislature deemed those existing rights to use water to in fact be in the "public interest" and should not be impaired. *See, Ormsby County*, 142 P. at 810. It also might have chosen to subject existing and subsequently established rights to use water to periodic review under the public interest test. Again, it did not do so. Instead, it provided a process for voluntary changes to those rights to meet evolving needs and values and subjected those voluntary changes to the public interest test when the change is requested.

The leading case confirming these purposes and policies is *Ormsby County* v. *Kearney*, 142 P. 803 (Nev. 1914). In *Ormsby County*, the court described the law as being "manifestly designed to be a comprehensive statute covering the water law of this state." The court also said "the public welfare is very greatly interested in the largest economical use of the waters of the state for agricultural, mining, power, and other purposes." *Id.* at 805.

The law brought the use and distribution of water into the control of the state. It did not grant title to water, but rather only the right to use water subject to adequate state control limiting that use as to amount, place and purpose and to changes therein. Those are public purposes. The principal public purpose was to encourage private investment in the development and beneficial use of Nevada's water for the economic benefit of the state. When considering new appropriations

and changes to existing and future rights, the State Engineer was directed to consider the public interest.

In order to meet the public purpose of encouraging the use of water for the economic benefit of the state, the Legislature recognized that once a right to use water was perfected, it needed to be protected so that it could be relied upon in the development of the state. In addition, if the right was not so used, it could not be diverted, and might be permanently lost. Those, too, are public purposes.

2. Fair Consideration.

Nevada did and continues to receive fair consideration for the grant of rights to use Nevada's water. That consideration was, is, and will continue to be the investment of labor and capital by the past, present and future generations of Nevadans who develop those water resources and place them to beneficial use for the benefit of the people and economy of Nevada.

3. Protection for the Use and Enjoyment of Present and Future Generations.

In *Lawrence*, the court found that the third consideration was specific to grants related to navigable waterways, which is not the case here. *Lawrence*, 254 P.3d at 616. Nevertheless, Nevada's dispensation of the right to use water satisfies the obligation to protect the use of water for present and future generations in many of the same ways and for the same reasons that the dispensation was for a

public purpose. First, it provides only for a right to use water. Second, it only allows that use for a beneficial purpose as defined by the State. Third, it prohibits waste. Fourth, non-use may result in a loss of the right. Thus, the law ensures that Nevada's water must be used for the benefit of the State and its present and future generations.

In addition, the rights to use water for natural resource values are accorded the same protection against involuntary reallocation to other uses as are rights to use water for other uses. Importantly, the law provides a process which allows for changes to water rights through which the rights to use water established more than a century ago may be changed to meet the new uses and new values of present and future generations. Those provisions have benefitted and are continuing to benefit Walker Lake. They have also allowed former irrigation rights to become a principal source of supply for municipal use in urban areas, like the Reno-Sparks metropolitan area. *See*, 12-14, *supra*.

Those provisions are providing similar benefits to other natural resources in Nevada. The Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe now holds a water right for the benefit of Pyramid Lake. See, Nev. State Eng. Ruling No. 4683 (1998). Similarly, changes to water rights established in the 19th century for irrigation are taking place elsewhere in Nevada to meet 21st century values of sustaining wetlands for wildlife and recreation

and repairing damage to threatened and endangered species of fish and the ecosystems on which they depend. Water rights have been acquired from willing sellers and changed to sustain wetlands fed by the Carson River in the Lahontan Valley. *See, United States v. Alpine Land & Reservoir Co.*, 341 F.3d 1172 (9th Cir. 2003). In order to resolve water quality litigation, Reno, Sparks, Washoe County, the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe and the United States entered into an agreement to acquire and change Truckee River irrigation rights, including those being diverted to outside of the Truckee River Basin, to improve, maintain and preserve water quality in the lower Truckee River and Pyramid Lake for purposes of fish and wildlife. *See*, Nev. State Engineer Ruling No. 5760 (2007).

The Nevada Legislature has struck an appropriate balance between use of water for beneficial purposes away from streams and lakes and use of water for beneficial purposes within streams and lakes. Its actions are not an abdication of state authority over the use of water, but rather an exercise of it.

The Legislature did not provide for the involuntary reallocation of perfected water rights. It made court decrees final and conclusive. *See*, NRS § 533.210. The State Engineer is required to carry out his duties in a manner which does not conflict with those decrees. *See*, NRS 533.0245; § 533.3703(2)(a). It had good reasons for not providing for an involuntary reallocation of perfected water rights. For the driest

state in the nation to develop and evolve for the benefit of its people, perfected rights to use water must be reliable. Instead of involuntary reallocation, the Legislature provided for voluntary changes to water rights to meet evolving needs and values. That is consistent with the obligation to protect the right to use water for present and future generations.

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